Response diversity determines the resilience of ecosystems to environmental change

Akira S. Mori^{1,*}, Takuya Furukawa¹ and Takehiro Sasaki²

¹ Graduate School of Environment and Information Sciences, Yokohama National University, 79-7 Tokiwadai, Hodogaya, Yokohama, 240-8501, Japan

² Graduate School of Frontier Sciences, The University of Tokyo, 5-1-5 Kashiwanoha, Kashiwa, 277-8563, Japan

ABSTRACT

A growing body of evidence highlights the importance of biodiversity for ecosystem stability and the maintenance of optimal ecosystem functionality. Conservation measures are thus essential to safeguard the ecosystem services that biodiversity provides and human society needs. Current anthropogenic threats may lead to detrimental (and perhaps irreversible) ecosystem degradation, providing strong motivation to evaluate the response of ecological communities to various anthropogenic pressures. In particular, ecosystem functions that sustain key ecosystem services should be identified and prioritized for conservation action. Traditional diversity measures (e.g. 'species richness') may not adequately capture the aspects of biodiversity most relevant to ecosystem stability and functionality, but several new concepts may be more appropriate. These include 'response diversity', describing the variation of responses to environmental change among species of a particular community. Response diversity may also be a key determinant of ecosystem resilience in the face of anthropogenic pressures and environmental uncertainty. However, current understanding of response diversity is poor, and we see an urgent need to disentangle the conceptual strands that pervade studies of the relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning. Our review clarifies the links between response diversity and the maintenance of ecosystem functionality by focusing on the insurance hypothesis of biodiversity and the concept of functional redundancy. We provide a conceptual model to describe how loss of response diversity may cause ecosystem degradation through decreased ecosystem resilience. We explicitly explain how response diversity contributes to functional compensation and to spatio-temporal complementarity among species, leading to long-term maintenance of ecosystem multifunctionality. Recent quantitative studies suggest that traditional diversity measures may often be uncoupled from measures (such as response diversity) that may be more effective proxies for ecosystem stability and resilience. Certain conclusions and recommendations of earlier studies using these traditional measures as indicators of ecosystem resilience thus may be suspect. We believe that functional ecology perspectives incorporating the effects and responses of diversity are essential for development of management strategies to safeguard (and restore) optimal ecosystem functionality (especially multifunctionality). Our review highlights these issues and we envision our work generating debate around the relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functionality, and leading to improved conservation priorities and biodiversity management practices that maximize ecosystem resilience in the face of uncertain environmental change.

Key words: biodiversity-ecosystem functioning, complementarity, ecosystem services, effect and response traits, functional compensation, functional diversity, functional redundancy, low multifunctional redundancy, regime shift, trait-based redundancy.

CONTENTS

I.	Introduction	350
II.	Questions and directions	351
	(1) What is a functionally redundant community?	351
	(a) Low redundancy	351
	(b) Trait-based redundancy	352

* Address for correspondence (Tel: +81 045 339 4412; Fax: +81 045 339 4412; E-mail: akkym@kb3.so-net.ne.jp).

	(c) Synthesis	353
	(2) How are effect trans and response trans functionally uniferent:	254
	(3) How does response diversity change with increasing environmental pressurer	300
	(4) How do declines in response diversity lead to a shift in ecosystem states?	358
III.	Management implications	360
IV.	Conclusions	361
ν.	Acknowledgements	362
VI.	References	362
VII.	Supporting Information	364

I. INTRODUCTION

The relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning has been the subject of numerous studies investigating whether biodiversity affects ecosystem processes, and aiming to elucidate the mechanisms by which biodiversity determines ecosystem properties. Although many controversies still exist and mechanisms often remain poorly understood, accumulated knowledge generally supports the idea that biodiversity promotes ecosystem functionality and stability, and thus contributes significantly to various ecosystem services (Tilman, Reich & Knops, 2006; Naeem et al., 2009). This evidence serves to highlight the dangerous possibility that loss of biodiversity may result in a decline or loss of crucial ecosystem services (Duffy, 2009; Cardinale et al., 2012; Hooper et al., 2012). The cumulative understanding emerging from this 'ecosystem services perspective' (Mace, Norris & Fitter, 2012) should be more extensively publicised in a bid to convince society at large, and particularly those parties responsible for policy development, that the safeguarding of biodiversity is of the highest priority if human well-being is to be sustained in the face of global change (Díaz et al., 2006; Loreau et al., 2006).

Recent syntheses (Balvanera et al., 2006; Cardinale et al., 2007) reveal that most studies of biodiversity-ecosystem functioning have used species richness as a diversity metric. These studies generally show that regardless of focal taxa, trophic level, and guild composition, mixtures of species (polycultures) contribute more, on average, to representative ecosystem functions such as primary production than do monocultures. However, such studies have often been criticized as having little practical relevance for management and conservation (Srivastava & Vellend, 2005; Thompson & Starzomski, 2006). Most have aimed primarily to clarify the mechanisms by which a mixture of species enhances the functional performance of ecosystems (e.g. the debate over sampling/selection effects versus complementarity effects; Cardinale et al., 2007, 2011; Fargione et al., 2007), rather than providing convincing evidence that biodiversity contributes to the stable, optimal provision of actual ecosystem services (but see Winfree & Kremen, 2009; Haas et al., 2011; van Elsas et al., 2012). Indeed, most available evidence to this effect is from experimental systems and theories in which the number and identity of species has been highly controlled. Newly emerged concepts based on measures of diversity other than species richness have aided practical

application of knowledge about the effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functionality. These alternative measures include those based on functional traits and intraspecific (genotypic and phenotypic) variation (Reiss *et al.*, 2009). Although it is difficult to determine which measure of diversity is most appropriate in a given context (because the different measures are context dependent), it is clear that species richness is not always the optimal measure at every level of biological organisation (McGill *et al.*, 2006; Cadotte, Cardinale & Oakley, 2008; Hillebrand & Matthiessen, 2009).

Some researchers have suggested that functional diversity exerts a greater influence on ecosystem functioning than does taxonomic species richness or diversity, because it presupposes a mechanistic link between diversity and ecological processes (Díaz & Cabido, 2001; Cadotte, Carscadden & Mirotchnick, 2011; Díaz et al., 2011). Functional diversity concerns those components of diversity that affect ecosystem operation, and is measured by determining the range and values of 'functional effect traits' of species in a community (Díaz & Cabido, 2001; Hooper et al., 2005). Note that these traits can be measured at the level of the individual or at the level of sub-functional groups (and that within-species variability of traits over time and space is important for further understanding of community processes; e.g. Laughlin et al., 2012; Violle et al., 2012), but for simplicity we generally discuss functional traits measured as species-level averages. The practical importance of functional diversity is that a loss of any functional types will likely result in loss of some ecosystem functions. By contrast, whilst extinction of a species is serious when viewed from the 'conservation perspective', which regards biodiversity itself as an ecosystem service (Mace, Norris & Fitter, 2012), the extinction may not have marked functional consequences. This is because different species often have similar effects on ecosystem processes when a single function is considered under one set of environmental conditions (Walker, 1995; Walker, Kinzig & Langridge, 1999; Díaz & Cabido, 2001). This 'functional redundancy' plays an important role in sustaining the functionality of ecosystems during environmental perturbations (Naeem, 1998), since the extinction of a species performing a particular ecosystem role can be compensated for by growth or dominance of species that have similar functional effects. At this juncture, it is important to emphasize that these compensatory responses in no way justify anthropogenic erosion of biodiversity, even if this impact has no apparent effect on ecosystem

functioning. However, given the urgent need to halt and reverse the degradation of key ecosystem properties (UNEP, 2009), and given the inevitable conflicts between biological conservation and social and economic demands (Polasky et al., 2008; Bullock et al., 2011), restoration efforts will in practice have to be focused preferentially on 'crucial' ecosystem services. It would thus be prudent to characterize functional redundancy carefully for the incorporation of this concept into ecological management frameworks. If this redundancy is clearly understood and accurately defined then management decisions can be made for its active maintenance, thus safeguarding ecological resilience and increasing the likelihood that desirable ecosystem states will be sustained under changing environmental conditions (Walker, 1995; Naeem, 1998; Elmqvist et al., 2003; Tscharntke et al., 2005; Carpenter, Bennett & Peterson, 2006).

In particular, the idea of functional redundancy deserves careful attention because variation within a functional effect group is important to buffer against environmental fluctuations and to facilitate successful reorganisation of ecological systems following disturbances (Walker, 1995; Naeem & Wright, 2003; Hooper et al., 2005). This follows from the notion of 'response diversity' (Elmqvist et al., 2003), which suggests that an assembly of species with similar functional effect traits should respond differently to disturbances and environmental changes, otherwise even small disturbances could result in loss of the majority (or in extreme cases the entirety) of species constituting a particular functional type (Elmqvist et al., 2003; Duffy, Richardson & France, 2005). A recent meta-analysis of 'functional response traits' in plant communities (i.e. species-specific traits related to disturbance response or post-disturbance regeneration: Díaz & Cabido, 2001; Hooper et al., 2005), showed that intensification of resource extraction and land use can cause a global decline of response diversity, suggesting that anthropogenic pressures can increase ecosystem vulnerability to environmental change (Laliberte et al., 2010).

In light of the above, it seems likely that high response diversity is essential to ensure ecosystem functionality, providing a means to cope with uncertainties and ecological surprises (Elmqvist et al., 2003). However, current understanding of response diversity is still poor (see online Fig. S1), and our focus on this concept is thus amply justified. This poor understanding stems from a variety of factors. First, there is a rudimentary understanding of functional redundancy, especially regarding its relationship to the insurance effects of biodiversity. Second, there is considerable subjectivity inherent in defining functional traits, because there is no fixed basis for determining effect and response traits. Third, response diversity has been only rarely quantified experimentally, observationally, or theoretically. And fourth, there is little knowledge of the mechanisms by which response diversity determines 'ecological resilience', i.e. the capacity of a system to absorb disturbance so as to retain the same controls on fundamental functions (Holling, 1973; Berkes, Colding &

Folke, 2003; Chapin, Kofinas & Folke, 2009; Gunderson, Allen & Holling, 2009), notwithstanding extensive research on complex adaptive systems by the Resilience Alliance (www.resalliance.org; Walker et al., 2002), through which the concept of response diversity originated (Elmqvist et al., 2003). In this review we provide some crucial insights and future directions based on key literature. Clearly, a proper understanding of the biodiversity-ecosystem functioning relationship is an essential basis for response to the escalating (and sometimes conflicting) demands for conservation and restoration of different ecosystem services (Walker, 1995; Duffy, 2009). Current species loss is not random and could potentially result in critical loss of vital ecosystem functionality (Zavaleta & Hulbey, 2004; Bracken et al., 2008; Selmants et al., 2012). We anticipate that our perspectives will be useful for the development of strategies to adapt to the current situation and mitigate this risk (note that related concepts and glossaries are listed in Table 1).

II. QUESTIONS AND DIRECTIONS

(1) What is a functionally redundant community?

Is a community with high functional redundancy always stable in terms of generating and maintaining ecosystem functionality? Existing studies provide clear evidence that this is not the case (Elmqvist et al., 2003; Laliberte et al., 2010). It is possible for a functional group with high redundancy to be more vulnerable to environmental fluctuations than groups with lower redundancy (Fig. 1). In Fig. 1, low levels of external pressure cause extinction of highly vulnerable species (black), eliminating functional groups FG2 and FG6. Moderate levels of pressure also remove species with medium vulnerability (grey), eliminating FG3, FG4 and FG5. Thereafter, only the species with high stress tolerance (white) in FG1 and FG7 remain. Thus, high redundancy does not necessarily ensure high response diversity and the consequent preservation of functionality in the face of environmental fluctuations. At this juncture we must consider the issue of functional compensation and its contribution to ideas about redundancy. Here, we disentangle and clarify different concepts of redundancy and the insurance effects of biodiversity.

(a) Low redundancy

According to the insurance hypothesis of Yachi & Loreau (1999), the greater the variance of species responses to environmental fluctuations, the lower the species richness at which the temporal mean of an ecosystem process saturates and the ecosystem becomes redundant. Subsequent theoretical developments suggest that an assembly of species with different responses to environmental fluctuations can stabilize an ecosystem function (e.g. process rate) in the face of environmental change, through compensatory dynamics among species (reviewed by Gonzalez & Loreau, 2009).

Table 1. Glossary

- Alternative stable states: Multiple (alternative) basins of attraction within an ecological system (Carpenter & Gunderson, 2001; Scheffer & Carpenter, 2003). This concept predicts that ecosystems can persist under multiple states (such as sets of particular biotic and abiotic conditions). An ecosystem can abruptly shift from one state to another, the phenomenon referred to as 'regime shift'.
- Complementarity: Niche differences among species, such as interspecific differences in resource use, lead to more efficient acquisition of available resources and therefore a higher rate of an ecosystem function. This has been discussed well in the relationship between biodiversity and productivity (e.g. Cardinale *et al.*, 2007; Fargione *et al.*, 2007).
- Density compensation: This is said to occur when the total density or biomass of a community maintains the same level following species loss (Gonzalez & Loreau, 2009). This does not necessarily assure the persistence of ecosystem function that the community provides (see main text).
- Ecological resilience: The capacity of a system to absorb shocks and disturbances and retain the same level of fundamental functions (Berkes, Colding & Folke, 2003; Folke *et al.*, 2004; Chapin, Kofinas & Folke, 2009).
- Ecosystem function: The changes in energy and matter over time and space occurring through biological activity, such as primary production, nutrient uptake, decomposition, and evapotranspiration. The rates of such functions are often positively associated with higher levels of biodiversity (e.g. Balvanera *et al.*, 2006; Cardinale *et al.*, 2007).
- Ecosystem process: This is synonymous with 'ecosystem function' (Reiss et al., 2009).
- Ecosystem services: Humanity benefits from a multitude of resources and processes supplied by ecosystems. Ecosystem services are grouped into four categories: provisioning (such as providing food and water); regulating (such as climate regulation and pest control); supporting (such as carbon and nutrient dynamics); and cultural (such as recreational and educational use).
- Functional compensation: Under environmental perturbations, species in a community may be lost or become functionally less important or even dormant. However, the aggregate of an ecosystem process can nonetheless be maintained, because the remaining species can compensate functionally for the loss (Walker, 1992, 1995; Naeem, 1998; Díaz & Cabido, 2001). This does not necessarily accompany density compensation (see main text).
- Functional diversity: The variation or dispersion of functional traits in an assemblage (e.g. Díaz & Cabido, 2001; Hooper *et al.*, 2005; Petchey & Gaston, 2006; Hillebrand & Matthiessen, 2009; Laliberté & Legendre, 2010; Cadotte, Carscadden & Mirotchnick, 2011).
- Functional redundancy: The number of species contributing in a similar way to an ecosystem function (Laliberte *et al.*, 2010).
 Functional trait: Component of an organism's phenotype that determines its effect on ecosystem processes, called a functional effect trait (e.g. Hooper *et al.*, 2005; Petchey & Gaston, 2006; Suding *et al.*, 2008; Lavorel *et al.*, 2011) and its response to environmental changes, called a functional response trait (Naeem & Wright, 2003; Suding *et al.*, 2008; Suding & Hobbs, 2009). Some define effect and response
- traits as those influencing biogeochemical processes and regenerative traits, respectively (e.g. Laliberte *et al.*, 2010). Insurance hypothesis: The idea that species-rich communities are less likely to lose ecosystem functionality during environmental fluctuations (Yachi & Loreau, 1999).
- Low multifunctional redundancy: Effects of species identity on ecosystem functions increase when functional contexts (such as locations, functions, time or environmental-change scenarios) are considered at multiple dimensions (e.g. Isbell *et al.*, 2011). In this context, the number of species promoting ecosystem functions increases monotonically with functional dimensions (see main text).
- Regime shift: Crossing a threshold point brings about a sudden, sharp, and dramatic change in the structure and function of an ecosystem; for example, standing water can become overgrown by floating plants, shrubs can rapidly encroach into savannahs, and lake systems can experience a sudden shift from clear to turbid water (reviewed by Scheffer & Carpenter (2003) and Folke *et al.* (2004)).
- Response diversity: The diversity of species that can perform similar ecosystem functions but have different capacities to respond to disturbance, imparting greater resilience to the entire system (Walker, 1995; Elmqvist *et al.*, 2003; Suding & Hobbs, 2009). Note: while this can be evaluated at the level of the individual or at the level of functional groups, this synthesis describes it only at the species level.
- Trait-based redundancy: This idea presupposes that when multiple species have similar contributions to a focal function (that is, they have similar functional effect traits that are of interest), an ecosystem is able to maintain its key functionality (see main text).

Experiments also indicate that species asynchrony (i.e. the dominance of different species at different points in time) is a key component of these compensatory dynamics (e.g. Isbell, Polley & Wilsey, 2009; Hector *et al.*, 2010). This enables a community steadily to generate the aggregate of ecosystem properties, leading to the concept of low temporal redundancy. This concept considers that species that are functionally redundant at a given point in time may no longer be redundant at a later juncture (Loreau *et al.*, 2001; Reich *et al.*, 2012). Recent expansion of this idea has produced the notion of 'low multifunctional redundancy', which suggests that the number of species that promote ecosystem functioning increases with the number of functional contexts considered (Hector & Bagchi, 2007; Zavaleta *et al.*, 2012; Isbell *et al.*, 2011; Lohbeck *et al.*, 2012; Maestre *et al.*, 2012).

These studies propose that redundancy should be evaluated using multiple factors in addition to functional effect traits (including spatial and temporal variation of environmental conditions) to ensure a more accurate multifunctional characterization of ecosystems at large spatio-temporal scales. The ideas of low redundancy, the non-equilibrium nature of multispecies communities and species-specific responses to environmental fluctuations all point to high spatio-temporal complementarity of species (Loreau, 2004), resulting in long-term stability of multifunctional ecosystems.

(b) Trait-based redundancy

Traditional definitions of functional redundancy are based solely on similarity in the effect traits of different species (e.g.



Fig. 1. Illustration of the difference between functional redundancy and response diversity. Each instance of a symbol represents a different species, where symbol shape indicates functional effect traits and symbol shading indicates functional response traits. Each functional group (FG) is composed of species with identical effect traits, and the number of species in a FG determines its functional redundancy. Vulnerability to environmental pressures is determined by response traits, with black/gray/white representing high/medium/low levels of vulnerability. See the text for further explanation of this figure.

biogeochemical attributes; Naeem, 1998), and these traitbased definitions do not usually consider spatial or temporal variability in the functional effects of species. Functional traits comprise the phenotypic characteristics of an organism that affect its performance and fitness (Hooper et al., 2005; Petchey & Gaston, 2006; Suding et al., 2008; Cadotte, Carscadden & Mirotchnick, 2011). Whilst some traits such as phenological or behavioural differences among species may be useful to infer spatial and/or temporal complementarity that leads to a community-level aggregate of ecosystem properties, most functional traits (such as those based on morphological and physiological characteristics) are not strong indicators of niche specialization in a community. In other words, although functional effect traits are useful for identifying a group of species with similar functional roles (e.g. nitrogen fixation and non-fixation), they reveal little about whether and how within-group species asynchrony and spatio-temporal complementary occur.

(c) Synthesis

To illustrate the difference between these two concepts of redundancy, we use a hypothetical group of eight species that each contributes to the long-term maintenance of an ecosystem function (Fig. 2). Suppose that the number of active species within the group fluctuates over time, where active species are those that promote functionality at any given juncture. Six of the eight species are active each year, though each species contributes to a different degree. Relative contributions vary from year to year,



Fig. 2. Temporal fluctuation of redundancy in one functional effect group. Each instance of a symbol represents a different species; shape indicates functional effect traits and pattern indicates functional response traits. All species have similar effect traits. In any year, the top two species are inactive (functionally dormant), whilst the six species enclosed within the rectangle all contribute in varying degrees to the overall functioning of the group in that year. Their relative contribution (high-low) is indicated by their position along the background gradient of the rectangle (dark-light). Resulting from different responses of species to environmental conditions at different times, this group can steadily perform complementary resource use and maintain overall functioning in the face of environmental fluctuations (functional compensation). Note that for simplicity we describe annual variation in each species' dominance and dormancy (such as those seen in annual plant communities); however, similar asynchrony among species can be observed at different temporal scales.

and the set of active species also varies annually. Possible explanations causing such interspecific asynchrony in dominance under environmental fluctuations (i.e. temporal niche differentiation) include the storage effect (Caceres, 1997; Angert *et al.*, 2009) and intraspecific trait variation (Violle *et al.*, 2012). In a given year, the two inactive species would be considered functionally redundant according to the trait-based definition, but not so under the concept of low multifunctional redundancy. Nonetheless, both views would consider all eight species in Fig. 2 to be important despite the intermittent functional contributions of some species; those that are functionally dormant in a given year will respond to different future conditions and once again contribute to ecosystem functioning. This response diversity constitutes the insurance effect of biodiversity.

Some authors consider the two views of redundancy (low redundancy and trait-based redundancy) as allied. For example, Walker, Kinzig & Langridge, (1999) and Gonzalez & Loreau (2009) consider functional redundancy to be the compensatory responses to environmental fluctuations among functionally similar species. However, a real conceptual divide exists regarding the insurance effects of biodiversity, and it is necessary to assess critically the different views based on key findings emerging from research on response diversity. We recommend that future studies considering functional redundancy should be explicit in the expression of functional context. That is, it is important to specify a focal set of environmental conditions when considering whether species are functionally active or dormant.

The only meta-analysis to date that deals with response diversity showed that for all 18 existing datasets, functional redundancy and response diversity were both significantly reduced by land-use intensification such as biomass removal and fertilization (Laliberte et al., 2010). In agreement with the insurance hypothesis (Yachi & Loreau, 1999), this finding supports the importance of conserving higher number of species that respond differently to external pressures, if key ecosystem functions are to be conserved. However, the synthesis of Laliberte et al. (2010) depends on the assumption that species with similar effect traits are always functionally redundant. This simplification, which reflects the trait-based concept of redundancy, may preclude careful consideration of resource use and niche differentiation to detect subtle functional variation, and the synthesis may thus be at odds with the idea of low redundancy. We think that the critical factor complicating the concept of redundancy is the issue of 'functional dormancy', whereby certain species in a community temporally lose their functional roles as a result of environmental change (Fig. 2).

It is well known that the competitive balance between species often shifts according to changes in biotic and abiotic factors (e.g. Hartley & Amos, 1999). As a result of such changes, species in a community may occasionally become functionally less important or even dormant. However, the aggregate of ecosystem processes (such as annual biomass production of a plant community) can nonetheless be maintained by shifts in the dominance of other species in the community (functional compensation). Although poorly understood, this species asynchrony in response to environmental fluctuations (e.g. MacArthur, 1955; Chapin & Shaver, 1985; Leary & Petchey, 2009) appears to be the key point of departure of the low redundancy concept (which proposes that a species-rich assembly with niche differentiation is less likely to lose ecosystem functionality under spatio-temporal environmental fluctuations) and the trait-based redundancy concept (which proposes that a group of species with similar effect traits is resilient to environmental change and is able to maintain functionality). The major difference between these views is that the former considers each species as belonging to a different functional context, while the latter considers species with similar effect traits to be functionally identical, though with varying degrees of stress tolerance and different magnitudes of response (Fig. 2). Notwithstanding their differences, both redundancy views regard high response diversity as a buffer against loss of ecosystem functioning.

(2) How are effect traits and response traits functionally different?

Some studies have confused response traits with effect traits and their results may thus be of little use for deducing the

functional consequences of environmental change in terms of both process rate and ecosystem stability. One of the acceptable means of measuring response is, using the best available information, to evaluate the multivariate withingroup dispersion in response trait space after categorization into effect groups. However, there are some difficulties associated with this method. The first is that it corresponds to the evaluation of functional richness (i.e. a discontinuous metric representing the number of groups with similar functional effect traits). Although this may ease investigations of response diversity (e.g. Laliberte et al., 2010; Karp et al., 2011), functional diversity is more often expressed as continuous gradients of different effect traits (e.g. Díaz & Cabido, 2001; Hooper et al., 2005; Petchey & Gaston, 2006; Hillebrand & Matthiessen, 2009; Laliberté & Legendre, 2010). The second is the subjectivity inherent in the definition and categorization of functional traits. For example, Laliberte et al. (2010) classified plant height as an effect trait, while Duffy et al. (2009) treated it as a response trait, highlighting the constant challenge of distinguishing functional effect traits and functional response traits (Hooper et al., 2005; Suding et al., 2008). Actually, some traits can act as both effect and response traits (Laliberte et al., 2010). In practice, identification and prioritization of crucial functions in each ecosystem enables realistic decisions about which effect traits are of concern, and subsequent consideration of the dominant disturbance factors in each system facilitates selection of important response traits.

Below, we describe an approach for how functional traits should be conserved for the maintenance of crucial ecosystem functionality. Realistic decisions about which effect traits are of concern are related to realistic threats to ecosystem functionality that biodiversity provides. For example, human activity can threaten the diversity of natural avian communities, affecting ecologically and economically important functions such as seed dispersal, seed predation, pollination, and pest control (Tscharntke et al., 2008; Karp et al., 2011). Suppose conservation priority is given to these functions, because of their value as regulating services (Sekercioglu, 2006). In this case, primary attention should be paid to guild structure, because these processes are supported by different dietary guilds (i.e. frugivores, granivores, nectarivores, and insectivores, respectively; Sekercioglu, 2006). In the light of this focus, the study of Karp et al. (2011) is noteworthy. They recently investigated a possibility of compensatory species dynamics within each guild, and found that response diversity contributes to guild resilience (Fig. 3); however, because avian communities were less resilient and stable during high-intensity land-use (Fig. 4), they claimed that a need exists to decrease land-use intensity as a way to promote avian diversity and potentially augment and stabilize ecosystem service provision. Non-random loss of species may cause losses of diversity for specific groups that have a relatively greater contribution to ecosystem functioning. These groups include dominant species (Bracken et al., 2008), subordinate species (Bracken & Low, 2012), and specific guilds (Tscharntke et al., 2008). Thus, the



Fig. 3. Response diversity of avian communities in Costa Rica (Karp *et al.*, 2011). The figures represent cluster analyses based on relative abundances of species in forest (F), low-intensity land use (L), and high-intensity land use (H). Rows are individual species, and columns are study regions: Guanacaste (GU), Las Cruces (LC), Puerto Viejo (PV), and San Isidro (SI). Dark-filled boxes indicate higher relative abundance. Species are grouped together by similar responses to land-use intensification (all species within the same group have >0.25 correlation coefficients). Groups of species are separated from each other by empty rows. Because multiple groups are present for each guild and region, it is clear that species within each guild respond differently to land-use intensification and thus, exhibit response diversity. Reproduced with permission from Karp *et al.* (2011).

approach of Karp *et al.* (2011) may indicate an important direction; it implies that the evaluation of response diversity after identifying the key effect traits (in terms of their functional contributions and vulnerability to disturbance) helps to improve the ability of an ecosystem to sustain the functional and service roles biodiversity provides. This view is based on the view of trait-based redundancy and functional richness, and so may not be sufficient to take a larger number of functional contexts into account. However, considering realistic limitations, such as physical limits, financial costs and protection efforts, this approach is rationally operational in restoring and conserving naturally functioning ecosystems.

Another important issue is involved with phenotypic plasticity of species traits. There is now a growing body of literature that demonstrates the importance of intraspecific variation of traits in considering community processes (e.g. Laughlin *et al.*, 2012; Violle *et al.*, 2012). Traditionally, ecologists have long recognized that the traits of an organism may change according to environmental conditions (acclimation). For example, trees acclimate to changing light conditions *via* corresponding morphological changes (Horn, 1971; Küppers, 1989; Poorter & Werger, 1999; Mori, Mizumachi & Sprugel, 2008). In addition to overall changes in tree morphology, individual leaves are also able to respond to their local light conditions through appropriate adjustment of leaf traits such as lifespan, nitrogen content, size, and dry matter content (Reich *et al.*, 1991; Niinemets

& Lukjanova, 2003; Mori & Takeda, 2004). Under a particular set of environmental conditions, the ecological fitness of the whole tree is the cumulative result of changes in these morphological and physiological characteristics at various organ levels (Mori & Takeda, 2004). This phenotypic plasticity clearly indicates that responses (e.g. light acclimation) and performance (e.g. photosynthesis) are the outcomes of interactions of numerous traits within an individual. Yet, in scaling up from individual functional traits to community-level processes, traits are generally averaged for each species (Reiss et al., 2009), making it difficult to evaluate functional traits. Most studies have regarded leaf traits as functional effect traits, since community-average leaf traits influence the rates of biogeochemical processes such as primary production, litter decomposition and nutrient cycling. Note that in the example above, traits of each leaf vary in response to variations in local light availability, and all leaves contribute to the overall functionality of the whole tree. This is comparable to the cumulative responses of species leading to an overall community response (Hillebrand & Matthiessen, 2009). In summary, effect traits always respond in some way to extrinsic changes, and cumulatively determine community-level performance (Suding et al., 2008). Thus, actually, many functional effect traits are nested within functional response traits (Díaz & Cabido, 2001; Suding et al., 2008).

It should be noted that if strong overlaps exist between effect and response traits, effect traits alone are useful



Fig. 4. Resilience of guild structure [(A) total detections, (B) species richness, and (C) diversity] and stability [the inverse of 10-year variation in (D) total detections and (E) species richness] along a land-use gradient (F, forest; L, low intensity; H, high intensity) in avian communities in Costa Rica (Karp *et al.*, 2011). Letters denote significance under Tukey *post-hoc* or Wilcoxon signed rank tests (P < 0.05). Asterisks denote significance of 0.05 < P < 0.1. Whiskers represent minimum and maximum values without outliers (circles) defined as two times the interquartile range subtracted and added from the first and third quartile (the bounds of boxes). Box and whisker plots show that birds were more resilient and stable in low- than high-intensity land use. Reproduced with permission from Karp *et al.* (2011).

as a marker for the maintenance of ecosystem functions (e.g. Lavorel *et al.*, 2011). However, the two are not always correlated, and thus the consideration of response diversity in addition to effect diversity is often important and practical. In fact, it would be interesting for future studies to quantify the extent to which functional effects and responses are correlated across species, and it is important to determine which types of ecosystem functions could be threatened if sufficient attention is not paid to functional responses.

(3) How does response diversity change with increasing environmental pressure?

Species with high sensitivity to environmental stress are often preferentially lost in response to environmental pressures such as habitat fragmentation and altered disturbance regimes (Smith & Knapp, 2003; Gonzalez & Loreau, 2009). In the presence of interspecific interactions, such non-random extinctions can ultimately decrease the compensatory capacity of a community (Ives & Cardinale, 2004). This anthropogenic erosion of community resilience may result from changes in response diversity, because it is response diversity that ensures functional compensation (Leary & Petchey, 2009).

In theory, non-random loss of species is expected to decrease response diversity, ultimately leading to a loss of some ecosystem processes. However, in reality, the metaanalysis of Laliberte et al. (2010) showed that response diversity (measured for each individual effect group in each of the 18 studies) can increase, sometimes dramatically, with land-use intensification. Mayfield et al. (2010) also found numerous response trajectories of functional traits after land-use change. One possible reason for such variability in response diversity is that, in addition to external pressures, response diversity is influenced by internal factors such as changes in interspecific competition, facilitation, and food-web structure. For example, if a dominant species sensitive to anthropogenic pressures became extinct and the newly available resource was then partitioned among multiple species sourced from outside the community, the total number of functionally similar species would increase as a result of complementary resource use by these new colonizers. This would in turn increase the response richness and probably also the response diversity of the community. This example assumes that a competitively dominant species can be more vulnerable to environmental changes than are other subordinate species (Sasaki et al., 2009b), and also assumes an open system. Most theoretical and experimental studies assume a closed system in which compensatory dynamics can involve only the original members of a local community (e.g. McGrady-Steed & Morin, 2000; Wohl, Arora & Gladstone, 2004). In reality, however, ecosystems are open systems (Mori, 2011) in which metacommunity dynamics (Wilson, 1992; Leibold et al., 2004) are commonplace. Indeed, in real natural ecosystems the effects of species loss on response diversity are often complex; some observations suggest that changes in response richness associated with realistic species addition or loss do not necessarily alter ecosystem functionality.

Here, we describe the consequences of realistic species addition or loss on functional diversity using an example from a rangeland ecosystem. In rangelands, livestock grazing selectively affects those plant species that have relatively high palatability (Pakeman, 2004). A typical example is that grazing often suppresses competitively dominant but highly palatable grasses and thus favours diversity by allowing the increase of subordinate grasses and forbs (Bakker & Olff, 2003; Sasaki *et al.*, 2009*b*). For instance, Sasaki *et al.* (2009*b*)



Fig. 5. Observational evidence for the consequences of realistic species addition or loss on functional diversity. (A) The maximization of species richness by certain intermediate levels of grazing, taken from Sasaki *et al.* (2009*b*). The axis of grazing intensity represents the distance (m) from livestock camps or water points, which form the source of grazing gradients. Smaller values are thus indicative of higher grazing intensity. (B) The relationship between species richness and functional diversity along a gradient of grazing intensity, taken from Sasaki *et al.* (2009*a*). The maximization of species richness at certain intermediate levels of grazing does not lead to a proportional increase in functional diversity, as a surrogate for grassland functionality. Reproduced with permission from Sasaki *et al.* (2009*a*,*b*).

showed that species richness in Mongolian grasslands can be maximized by certain intermediate levels of grazing (Fig. 5A). Determining the relationship between species richness and functional diversity along a gradient of grazing intensity could therefore have important implications for predicting the effects on ecosystem functionality that may result from realistic species addition or loss in response to grazing regimes. Because species differ in their inherent responses to a given disturbance (Yachi & Loreau, 1999), the addition or loss of any species would lead directly to a respective increase or decrease in response richness. Sasaki et al. (2009a) demonstrate that maximization of species richness at certain intermediate levels of grazing apparently does not produce a proportional increase in functional diversity, as a surrogate for grassland functionality (Fig. 5B). Their results also indicate that below a certain level of species richness, loss of species caused by grazing has no effect on functionality (Fig. 5B). They suggest that two factors are responsible for these patterns: non-random species loss (dominant and palatable grasses are affected first), and intrinsic similarities in the functional trait space of different species. Regarding the latter, theory and empirical evidence suggest that in rangeland ecosystems with a long history of grazing and aridity, traits for grazing resistance evolve convergently in multiple taxa (Adler et al., 2004; Cingolani, Noy-Meir & Diaz, 2005). An additional study (Sasaki et al., 2012) indicates that whilst species richness changes in response to grazing pressure (Sasaki et al., 2009b), ecosystem services of particular importance in the rangeland context (e.g. herbage nutritive value) remain relatively constant below a certain level of grazing intensity.

In fact, the above example does not illustrate fully the long-term consequences for ecosystem services; it is possible the decline of species richness may make the community vulnerable to different types of subsequent environmental change (e.g. drought and biological invasion; Tilman & Lehman, 2001). However, the incongruity of change pattern between species richness and functional diversity may potentially have significant implications for ecosystem functioning (Flynn et al., 2009; Sasaki et al., 2009b). Future research such as long-term experiments including the manipulation of other drivers would benefit a deeper understanding of possible effects of the actual loss of species on functional response diversity. Considering that some experimental evidence shows a non-random loss of diversity may lead to a substantial decline in a process rate (e.g. Zavaleta & Hulbey, 2004; Bracken et al., 2008; Isbell et al., 2008), the example illustrated above has important implications. Because meaningful decisions about biological conservation should consider realistic threats on ecosystem functionality (Perrings et al., 2011), additional studies which quantify actual capacity of real ecological communities through response diversity (e.g. Karp et al., 2011) are required (Tscharntke et al., 2012).

Another possible explanation for observed variability in response diversity is the wide variety of causal anthropogenic pressures, such as fertilization and nitrogen loading (substance input), biological invasion (community alteration), clear-cut and slash-and-burn practices (resource overuse), and land abandonment (resource underuse). Although detailed quantifications are lacking, heterogeneous responses of species to different pressures lead to complex changes in response diversity when these pressures intensify. In addition, real ecosystems are likely to experience the simultaneous effects of multiple sources of change; for example, the impacts of climate change on certain threatened species are further complicated by habitat loss and fragmentation, leading to the ongoing debate about assisted colonization (e.g. Lawler & Olden, 2011). Tilman & Lehman (2001) also speculated that, since the impact of multidimensional environmental changes is likely multiplicative, a series of relatively small changes may be as important as a single major change. If so, focusing on a narrow range of response diversity (that is, focusing exclusively on a single major driver) may lead to undesirable management outcomes. Most anthropogenic pressures on ecological systems interact with other co-existing stressors. In the current context of global change (Sala *et al.*, 2000), predicting the future trajectories of response diversity in real ecosystems is extremely challenging (Mayfield *et al.*, 2010).

Notably, the evaluation of response diversity based on species-level attributes needs reconsideration. Whilst much of the established theory assumes equal abundance of all species, Hector et al. (2010) suggested that the stabilizing effects (insurance effects) of species diversity are, in reality, strongly influenced by abundance. Changes in population abundance within a community should therefore be taken into consideration when evaluating community resilience. This is especially so because extinction of only a single species could result in significant or even irreversible consequences should this species contribute greatly to ecosystem functioning by virtue of its high abundance (e.g. foundation species; Ellison et al., 2005). Dominant species may often play a crucial role in maintaining ecosystem processes (Smith & Knapp, 2003; Hillebrand, Bennett & Cadotte, 2008), though the contention surrounding this issue is illustrated by the differing perspectives on Grime (1998)'s mass ratio hypothesis (e.g. McLaren & Turkington, 2010; Sasaki & Lauenroth, 2011). Traditional theory involving density compensation predicts that species loss will have little effect on ecosystem functioning because of the expected community-wide increases in mean population abundance (Gonzalez & Loreau, 2009). However, in reality, Winfree & Kremen (2009) showed that in agricultural fields of the western and eastern United States, crop pollination is steadily maintained in the absence of density compensation among species, by high response diversity of native bees (measured as variability in the density of each bee population in response to changes in native vegetation cover). Similar findings were reported for a large dataset of bird communities in Costa Rica (Karp et al., 2011). These studies suggest that density compensation is not a ubiquitous mechanism by which ecosystem services are stabilized and maintained in real systems, and further studies are thus necessary quantitatively to separate functional compensation from density compensation. We suspect that the tight control and unrealistic levels of species evenness in many experimental systems designed to investigate the diversitystability relationship may make the resultant knowledge difficult to incorporate into real conservation strategies. Actually, a recent meta-analysis found a strong effect of evenness on diversity-functionality relationships (Zhang, Chen & Reich, 2012), although several studies have found no major influences of evenness in stabilizing ecosystem functioning (e.g. Isbell, Polley & Wilsey, 2009). Therefore, further studies on the interactive effects of species richness and evenness (or dominance) on ecosystem functioning are required to understand how response diversity is stabilized or endangered under environmental fluctuations.

(4) How do declines in response diversity lead to a shift in ecosystem states?

A functionally diverse community (i.e. an assemblage with high effect trait diversity) can perform various ecosystem processes simultaneously because of the complementarity between different groups of species. Response diversity is important for the long-term maintenance of this multifunctionality. According to the resilience theory, changes are ubiquitous in ecological systems and the resilience of a system determines its capacity for reorganization while undergoing change (Berkes, Colding & Folke, 2003; Chapin, Kofinas & Folke, 2009; Gunderson, Allen & Holling, 2009). This is consistent with the insurance concept of biodiversity; the selforganisation capability of a system in the face of environmental stresses and disturbances is generally considered to be proportional to diversity. However, although several studies have suggested that response diversity is equivalent to ecosystem resilience (Peterson, Allen & Holling, 1998; Elmqvist et al., 2003; Laliberte et al., 2010; Karp et al., 2011), to date there has been no robust explanation of the link between the two.

To sustain optimal ecosystem functionality (especially in the face of environmental change) it is necessary to preserve functional groups of species that will be able to contribute to system renewal and reorganization. Response diversity is known to safeguard ecosystems against functional degradation and collapse (e.g. Elmqvist *et al.*, 2003). To the best of our knowledge, our conceptual model shown in Fig. 6 is the first proposal that explains a mechanism by which a drop in response diversity can erode the ecosystem resilience of a naturally functioning ecosystem, increasing the likelihood of critical ecosystem degradation.

Suppose functional diversity (effect diversity) is positively correlated with the number of ecosystem functions considered (Fig. 6A) (for simplicity, we treat functional diversity and functional richness as synonymous). With increasing anthropogenic pressures (driver intensification), functional effect diversity may show an abrupt decline at a certain ecological threshold (Fig. 6B), resulting from aggregated extinctions and the consequent loss of response diversity (Fig. 6C). The initial slow decrease in functional effect diversity (Fig. 6B) is caused by loss of sensitive functional groups (such as FG3 in Fig. 6C). With driver intensification, additional extinctions occur of groups that are less sensitive, leaving behind only the tolerant groups (such as FG1 and FG2). Aggregation of these extinctions (such as FG4 to FGi) may result in a sharp decline of functional effect diversity which leads to major loss of ecosystem functionality (Fig. 6D), inducing a critical regime-shift of the system (from Position b to c, Fig. 6E). In this ball-and-cup model of ecosystem resilience (Fig. 6E), the ball (ecosystem) is continually vibrating in response to external pressures. Resilience of the ecosystem is represented by the width of the right basin of attraction (desirable attractor). Anthropogenic pressures gradually shrink the basin of this desirable attractor while the basin of the undesirable attractor (left cup) hardly changes (transition from Position a-b). Eventually the cumulative loss of response diversity results in the ecosystem dropping



Fig. 6. Relationship between anthropogenic pressures (driver), functional diversity, response diversity, and ecosystem state, showing that accumulated loss of response diversity mediates an abrupt shift in ecosystem state triggered by decreased functional diversity. (A) Relationship between functional diversity and number of ecosystem functions. (B) Non-linear change in functional diversity with increasing pressures. (C) Relationships between response diversity and driver intensity for a series of functional groups (FG). (D) Non-linear change in number of ecosystem functions with increasing pressures. (E) Basic ball-and-cup model of ecosystem resilience. Cups represent attractors (right, desirable; left, undesirable) into which the ball (ecosystem) is drawn. Positions a-c in E correspond with the same letters in panels (C) and (D).

into the undesirable attractor (transition from Position b-c). In summary, the decline of response diversity as a buffer against environmental fluctuations shrinks the state basin of the multifunctional ecosystem (i.e. reduces resilience) and may eventually lead to loss of essential ecosystem services (i.e. ecosystem degradation).

Our model clearly shows that the sudden shift to an alternative ecosystem state, coinciding with rapid loss of functional diversity, results from the aggregated loss of response diversity. This emphasizes the importance of the trajectories of response diversity with progressive driver intensification. It is noteworthy that under the assumption of a gradual decline of response diversity with increasing anthropogenic pressures (Laliberte *et al.*, 2010), earlier studies have focused exclusively on the initial state of response diversity relationship). However, it is clear that more attention should

be paid to the rate of change (slope) of this relationship. In Fig. 6, FG2 has a relatively low diversity of responses to environmental fluctuation, but because of its slow decline with increasing extrinsic pressures it is able to persist in the community even under strong anthropogenic impact. By contrast, most species groups (e.g. FG3 to FGi) are seemingly more diverse and stress-tolerant initially, but they are eventually pushed to extinction by progressive driver intensification. Meaningful evaluation of response diversity is therefore necessary. For a given functional group, a proxy for the slope of the driver versus response diversity relationship is the dispersion of species in response-trait space. Thus, it is more important to know the degree of variation among species with respect to their responses to environmental change, than to know the number of species with dissimilar responses. Rapidly developing trait databases such as TRY (http://try-db.org; Kattge et al., 2011) could provide the raw data for determination of dispersion, perhaps using multivariate analyses such as one proposed by Laliberté & Legendre (2010) that can calculate between-species distances for multiple response traits. Note that for simplification, our model (Fig. 6) assumes that changes in response diversity with driver intensification are linear; real relationships are perhaps more complex (Mayfield *et al.*, 2010). This reinforces the importance of focusing on the shape of the driver *versus* response diversity relationship, rather than simply evaluating the response richness at a given time.

This model clearly demonstrates that for conservation of ecosystem resilience, the specific relationship between response diversity and increasing anthropogenic pressure is substantially more important than the initial state of response diversity. Response diversity decreases with increasing anthropogenic pressures (e.g. forest conversion, habitat fragmentation, logging, grazing, and fertilization; Laliberte *et al.*, 2010). Notably, when the species in a given functional group vary widely in their responses to environmental change (i.e. have a high dispersion in response-trait space), even if the number of species in the group (i.e. functional effect redundancy) is low, it may be possible to avoid a drastic decline of response diversity under intensified pressures (Fig. 6).

Our simple model does not incorporate internal biotic interactions that may affect the trajectories of response diversity. Ives & Cardinale (2004) demonstrated mathematically that food-web interactions can reshuffle the order of species with regard to their tolerance of environmental stresses, suggesting that between-species distances of response traits within a community are also highly variable. Given the influences of pre-existing stressors, this variability leads us to conclude that the trajectory of response diversity in response to anthropogenic pressure is not always linear but may rather constitute some form of non-linear dynamic relationship. van Nes & Scheffer (2004) showed mathematically that gradual environmental change results in a gradual response in community composition followed by a sharp shift to an alternative attractor. These theoretical implications impose further complexity and uncertainty upon attempts to predict the pattern of driverbiodiversity-ecosystem services relationships. It is therefore important to determine which types of anthropogenic pressures can drive the ecosystem state rapidly beyond the threshold point via alteration of biological properties. To avoid undesirable ecosystem regime shifts, future studies should be directed towards elucidating how species interactions and abiotic factors synergistically determine the trajectory of response diversity.

III. MANAGEMENT IMPLICATIONS

Human activities gradually transform natural disturbances from pulses with characteristic magnitude and frequency, into press (or chronic) disturbances (Bengtsson *et al.*, 2003). Such chronic pressures are expected significantly to erode ecological resilience by shrinking the basin of the desirable attractor and making ecosystems more vulnerable to environmental perturbations (Carpenter & Gunderson, 2001; van Nes & Scheffer, 2004). Given this situation, there is an urgent need for ecological restoration. This study demonstrates that restoration priority should not always be given to functional groups that currently have low response richness and thus appear to be at highest risk of extinction. In reality, groups of species with high response richness at a given time may be more vulnerable to future extinction (in that case, the FGs have larger slopes of the driver-response diversity relationship illustrated in Fig. 6C).

Currently, we have only limited understanding of response diversity (inferred by Tscharntke et al. (2008)). However, a focus on response diversity is one of the most effective approaches for preservation of the particular aspects of functional diversity that benefit humans. Using various ecological tools to quantify effect and response traits, it is possible to assess response diversity for ecosystems across the globe. For instance, based on a global data base, Tscharntke et al. (2008) found that bird and insect communities are biased to specific functional types (guilds) as a result of responses to agricultural habitat transformation, thereby altering critical functionalities such as seed dispersal, pollination, and biological control. Furthermore, Cumming & Child (2009) found considerable spatial variation of response richness in relation to taxonomic richness in South African birds. This illustrates that species-rich communities are not necessarily diverse in terms of their responses to environmental fluctuations. Therefore, although most previous studies have focused on species richness, it is often more important to describe biodiversity based on functional characteristics (Díaz et al., 2007, 2011; Cadotte, 2011). So, it would be worth requantifying many earlier works for the insurance effects of response diversity. Once available, this information (especially from re-evaluation of observation studies focusing on real ecosystems) will contribute significantly to our search for ways to conserve and rebuild ecosystem resilience, which is a property essential for the survival of our global ecosystems (and thus our global society) in the face of looming anthropogenic pressures on biodiversity and ecosystem services.

Given the serious threat of human-induced species extinction, response diversity is clearly an important point of focus. It is therefore necessary to evaluate how ecological communities respond to various anthropogenic drivers. However, despite the availability of copious trait information, it is still not feasible to quantify response diversity for biological communities in each conservation and management area. Nevertheless, the current knowledge about response diversity is beneficial since it helps to disentangle and clarify various different ideas about species singularity and redundancy. In summary, there is no canonical definition of redundancy. The original meaning derives from the notion that it is not possible to conserve all species in a region by means of reserves so prioritization is essential with considerations of legitimate competing demands for resources (Walker, 1992, 1995). That is,



Fig. 7. A conceptual flow diagram relating functional redundancy to ecosystem resilience. We assume here that functional diversity reflects the dimensionality of the functional context. The three panels on the left show three possible relationships between species richness and functional diversity, from close linear correlation (top) to no correlation (bottom) depending on the functional contexts (species singularity or redundancy). Variable patterns of species diversity-functional redundancy have been reported (see Micheli & Halpern, 2005; Petchey et al., 2007; Hoey & Bellwood, 2009; Sasaki et al., 2009b; Joner et al., 2011; Zhang, Chen & Reich, 2012).

it is often necessary to prioritize species with functional singularity (e.g. Hoey & Bellwood, 2009). In this context, redundancy does not mean 'unnecessary'; it never implies that no concern exists related to functionally redundant species (Walker, 1995). Practically, fruitful understandings of redundancy therefore rely on the management objectives. As illustrated in Fig. 7, the focus may vary from 'uniqueness' of each species to 'key functionality' supported by diversity. At this juncture, the core message from our synthesis is that response diversity is the key linking the fundamentally analogous but somewhat disjunctive concepts of functional redundancy and the insurance effect of biodiversity.

In particular, the focus on response diversity provides a deeper, process-orientated understanding and recognition of the functional consequences of biodiversity that goes beyond a focus on maximizing species richness and diversity as the ultimate insurance against environmental change. These functional consequences are also essential for the continued survival of humanity, which needs numerous ecosystem services. Ecosystem management plans should at least ensure long-term monitoring to infer the resilience of systems sustained by biodiversity, regardless of their current state of response diversity. This will equip managers to recognize

which ecosystem functions and services are threatened and to undertake the necessary preventative measures before the onset of serious ecosystem degradation and its undesirable consequences.

IV. CONCLUSIONS

(1) Studies on the relationship between biodiversity and ecosystem functioning have led to a significant paradigm shift in our understanding of the way in which biological diversity should be safeguarded (Naeem et al., 2009; Cardinale et al., 2012; Hooper et al., 2012; Naeem, Duffy & Zavaleta, 2012; Tilman, Reich & Isbell, 2012).

(2) Biodiversity conservation should no longer be viewed as the sole ultimate 'objective', but rather as an effective and essential means of ensuring the long-term provision of ecosystem services that depend upon biodiversity and that are required for human well-being. In this regard, it is important to select crucial ecosystem services as priorities for conservation and management, and then to specify which ecological properties of these systems are priorities for restoration and conservation.

(3) To ensure key ecosystem functioning, the greatest attention should be focused on those elements of diversity that respond most strongly to environmental fluctuations, and in turn, most strongly influence the environment. Based on the emerging view of response diversity, it is important to reevaluate critically the present situation, in which species richness is prioritized strongly among the various aspects of biological diversity. The functional ecology view that treats biodiversity as both cause and effect enables us to face uncertain environmental changes adaptively without losing the multifunctionality of ecological systems.

(4) Thus, although the concept of response diversity is not new, we expect and recommend further studies on the insurance effects of response diversity, as well as a focus on effect diversity. Such studies will provide the requisite knowledge about biodiversity-stability and biodiversityfunctionality relationships for informed, meaningful and successful ecosystem management to be achieved.

V. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was supported by the JSPS (Japan Society for the Promotion of Science) Global COE Program for Yokohama National University (E03) and by the Kondo Grant of the Asahi Glass Foundation. We sincerely acknowledge Forest Isbell, James P. Grover, William Foster and anonymous reviewers for insightful comments.

VI. REFERENCES

- ADLER, P. B., MILCHUNAS, D. G., LAUENROTH, W. K., SALA, O. E. & BURKE, I. C. (2004). Functional traits of graminoids in semi-arid steppes: a test of grazing histories. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **41**, 653–663.
- ANGERT, A. L., HUXMAN, T. E., CHESSON, P. & VENABLE, D. L. (2009). Functional tradeoffs determine species coexistence via the storage effect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 106, 11641–11645.
- BAKKER, E. S. & OLFF, H. (2003). The impact of different-sized herbivores on recruitment for subordinate herbs in grasslands. *Journal of Vegetation Science* 14, 465–474.
- BALVANERA, P., PFISTERER, A. B., BUCHMANN, N., HE, J. S., NAKASHIZUKA, T., RAFFAELLI, D. & SCHMID, B. (2006). Quantifying the evidence for biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning and services. *Ecology Letters* 9, 1146–1156.
- BENGTSSON, J., ANGELSTAM, P., ELMQVIST, T., EMANUELSSON, U., FOLKE, C., IHSE, M., MOBERG, F. & NYSTRÖM, M. (2003). Reserves, resilience, and dynamic landscapes. *Ambio* 32, 389–396.
- BERKES, F., COLDING, J. & FOLKE, C. (2003). Navigating Social-Ecological Systems. Building Resilience for Complexity and Change. Cambridge University Press, New York.
- BRACKEN, M. E., FRIBERG, S. E., GONZALEZ-DORANTES, C. A. & WILLIAMS, S. L. (2008). Functional consequences of realistic biodiversity changes in a marine ecosystem. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 105, 924–928.
- BRACKEN, M. E. & LOW, N. H. (2012). Realistic losses of rare species disproportionately impact higher trophic levels. *Ecology Letters* 15, 461–467.
- BULLOCK, J. M., ARONSON, J., NEWTON, A. C., PYWELL, R. F. & REY-BENAYAS, J. M. (2011). Restoration of ecosystem services and biodiversity: conflicts and opportunities. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 26, 541–549.
- CACERES, C. E. (1997). Temporal variation, dormancy, and coexistence: a field test of the storage effect. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 94, 9171–9175.
- CADOTTE, M. W. (2011). The new diversity: management gains through insights into the functional diversity of communities. *Journal of Applied Ecology* **48**, 1067–1069.

- CADOTTE, M. W., CARDINALE, B. J. & OAKLEY, T. H. (2008). Evolutionary history and the effect of biodiversity on plant productivity. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America 105, 17012–17017.
- CADOTTE, M. W., CARSCADDEN, K. & MIROTCHNICK, N. (2011). Beyond species: functional diversity and the maintenance of ecological processes and services. *Journal* of Applied Ecology 48, 1079–1087.
- CARDINALE, B. J., DUFFY, J. E., GONZALEZ, A., HOOPER, D. U., PERRINGS, C., VENAIL, P., NARWANI, A., MACE, G. M., TILMAN, D., WARDLE, D. A., KINZIG, A. P., DAILY, G. C., LOREAU, M., GRACE, J. B., LARIGAUDERIE, A., et al. (2012). Biodiversity loss and its impact on humanity. *Nature* 486, 59–67.
- CARDINALE, B. J., MATULICH, K. L., HOOPER, D. U., BYRNES, J. E., DUFFY, E., GAMFELDT, L., BALVANERA, P., O'CONNOR, M. I. & GONZALEZ, A. (2011). The functional role of producer diversity in ecosystems. *American Journal of Bolany* 98, 572–592.
- CARDINALE, B. J., WRIGHT, J. P., CADOTTE, M. W., CARROLL, I. T., HECTOR, A., SRIVASTAVA, D. S., LOREAU, M. & WEIS, J. J. (2007). Impacts of plant diversity on biomass production increase through time because of species complementarity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104, 18123-18128.
- CARPENTER, S. R., BENNETT, E. M. & PETERSON, G. D. (2006). Scenarios for ecosystem services: an overview. *Ecology and Society* 11, Article No. 29. http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/voll1/iss2/art32
- CARPENTER, S. R. & GUNDERSON, L. H. (2001). Coping with collapse: ecological and social dynamics in ecosystem management. *Bioscience* 51, 451–457.
- CHAPIN, F. S. I., KOFINAS, G. P. & FOLKE, C. (2009). Principles of Ecosystem Stewardship. Resilience-based Natural Resource Management in a Changing World. Springer, New York.
- CHAPIN, F. S. I. & SHAVER, G. R. (1985). Individualistic growth response of tundra plant species to environmental manipulations in the field. *Ecology* 66, 564–576.
- CINGOLANI, A. M., NOY-MEIR, I. & DIAZ, S. (2005). Grazing effects on rangeland diversity: diversity-intensity and state and transition models. *Ecological Applications* 15, 757–773.
- CUMMING, G. S. & CHILD, M. F. (2009). Contrasting spatial patterns of taxonomic and functional richness offer insights into potential loss of ecosystem services. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* 364, 1683–1692.
- DÍAZ, S. & CABIDO, M. (2001). Vive la différence: plant functional diversity matters to ecosystem processes. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 16, 646–655.
- DÍAZ, S., FARGIONE, J., CHAPIN, F. S. & TILMAN, D. (2006). Biodiversity loss threatens human well-being. *PLoS Biology* 4, 1300–1305.
- DÍAZ, S., LAVOREL, S., DE BELLO, F., QUETIER, F., GRIGULIS, K. & ROBSON, T. M. (2007). Incorporating plant functional diversity effects in ecosystem service assessments. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 104, 20684–20689.
- DÍAZ, S., QUETIER, F., CACERES, D. M., TRAINOR, S. F., PEREZ-HARGUINDEGUY, N., BRET-HARTE, M. S., FINEGAN, B., PENA-CLAROS, M. & POORTER, L. (2011). Linking functional diversity and social actor strategies in a framework for interdisciplinary analysis of nature's benefits to society. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 108, 895–902.
- DUFFY, J. E. (2009). Why biodiversity is important to the functioning of real-world ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 7, 437–444.
- DUFFY, J. E., RICHARDSON, J. P. & FRANCE, K. E. (2005). Ecosystem consequences of diversity depend on food chain length in estuarine vegetation. *Ecology Letters* 8, 301–309.
- DUFFY, J. E., SRIVASTAVA, D. S., MCLAREN, J., SANKARAN, M., SOLAN, M., EMMERSON, M. & JONES, K. E. (2009). Forecasting decline in ecosystem services under realistic scenarios of extinction. In *Biodiversity, Ecosystem Functioning, and Human Wellbeing* (eds S. NAEEM, D. E. BUNKER, A. HECTOR, M. LOREAU and C. PERRINGS), pp. 60–77. Oxford University Press, New York.
- ELLISON, A. M., BANK, M. S., CLINTON, B. D., COLBURN, E. A., ELLIOTT, K., FORD, C. R., FOSTER, D. R., KLOEPPEL, B. D., KNOEPP, J. D., LOVETT, G. M., MOHAN, J., ORWIG, D. A., RODENHOUSE, N. L., SOBCZAK, W. V., STINSON, K. A., et al. (2005). Loss of foundation species: consequences for the structure and dynamics of forested ecosystems. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 3, 479–486.
- ELMQVIST, T., FOLKE, C., NYSTROM, M., PETERSON, G., BENGTSSON, J., WALKER, B. & NORBERG, J. (2003). Response diversity, ecosystem change, and resilience. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 1, 488–494.
- VAN ELSAS, J. D., CHIURAZZI, M., MALLON, C. A., ELHOTTOVA, D., KRISTUFEK, V. & SALLES, J. F. (2012). Microbial diversity determines the invasion of soil by a bacterial pathogen. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 109, 1159–1164.
- FARGIONE, J., TILMAN, D., DYBZINSKI, R., LAMBERS, J. H., CLARK, C., HARPOLE, W. S., KNOPS, J. M., REICH, P. B. & LOREAU, M. (2007). From selection to complementarity: shifts in the causes of biodiversity-productivity relationships in a long-term biodiversity experiment. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London, Series B: Biological Sciences* 274, 871–876.
- FLYNN, D. F., GOGOL-PROKURAT, M., NOGEIRE, T., MOLINARI, N., RICHERS, B. T., LIN, B. B., SIMPSON, N., MAYFIELD, M. M. & DECLERCK, F. (2009). Loss of functional diversity under land use intensification across multiple taxa. *Ecology Letters* 12, 22–33.

- FOLKE, C., CARPENTER, S., WALKER, B., SCHEFFER, M., ELMQVIST, T., GUNDERSON, L. & HOLLING, C. S. (2004). Regime shifts, resilience, and biodiversity in ecosystem management. Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 35, 557–581.
- GONZALEZ, A. & LOREAU, M. (2009). The causes and consequences of compensatory dynamics in ecological communities. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics* 40, 393–414.
- GRIME, J. P. (1998). Benefits of plant diversity to ecosystems: immediate, filter and founder effects. *Journal of Ecology* 86, 902–910.
- GUNDERSON, L. H., ALLEN, C. R. & HOLLING, C. S. (2009). Foundation of Ecological Resilience. Island Press, Washington.
- HAAS, S. E., HOOTEN, M. B., RIZZO, D. M. & MEENTEMEYER, R. K. (2011). Forest species diversity reduces disease risk in a generalist plant pathogen invasion. *Ecology Letters* 14, 1108–1116.
- HARTLEY, S. E. & AMOS, L. (1999). Competitive interactions between Nardus stricta L. and Calluna vulgaris (L.) Hull: the effect of fertilizer and defoliation on aboveand below-ground performance. *Journal of Ecology* 87, 330–340.
- HECTOR, A. & BAGCHI, R. (2007). Biodiversity and ecosystem multifunctionality. *Nature* 448, 188–190.
- HECTOR, A., HAUTIER, Y., SANER, P., WACKER, L., BAGCHI, R., JOSHI, J., SCHERER-LORENZEN, M., SPEHN, E. M., BAZELEY-WHITE, E., WEILEMMANN, M., CALDEIRA, M. C., DIMITRAKOPOULOS, P. G., FINN, J. A., HUSS-DANELL, K., JUMPPONEN, A., et al. (2010). General stabilizing effects of plant diversity on grassland productivity through population asynchrony and overyielding. *Ecology* 91, 2213–2220.
- HILLEBRAND, H., BENNETT, A. & CADOTTE, M. W. (2008). The consequences of dominance: a review of the effects of evenness on local and regional ecosystem pocesses. *Ecology* 89, 1510–1520.
- HILLEBRAND, H. & MATTHIESSEN, B. (2009). Biodiversity in a complex world: consolidation and progress in functional biodiversity research. *Ecology Letters* 12, 1405–1419.
- HOEY, A. S. & BELLWOOD, D. R. (2009). Limited functional redundancy in a high diversity system: single species dominates key ecological process on coral reefs. *Ecosystems* 12, 1316–1328.
- HOLLING, C. S. (1973). Resilience and stability of ecological systems. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics 4, 1–23.
- HOOPER, D. U., ADAIR, E. C., CARDINALE, B. J., BYRNES, J. E. K., HUNGATE, B. A., MATULICH, K. L., GONZALEZ, A., DUFFY, J. E., GAMFELDT, L. & O'CONNOR, M. I. (2012). A global synthesis reveals biodiversity loss as a major driver of ecosystem change. *Nature* 486, 105–108.
- HOOPER, D. U., CHAPIN, F. S. I., EWEL, J. J., HECTOR, A., INCHAUSTI, P., LAVOREL, S., LAWTON, J. H., LODGE, D., LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., SCHMID, B., SETÄLÄ, H., SYMSTAD, A. J., VANDERMEER, J. & WARDLE, D. A. (2005). Effects of biodiversity on ecosystem functioning: a consensus of current knowledge. *Ecological Monographs* 75, 3–35.
- HORN, H. S. (1971). The Adaptive Geometry of Trees. Princeton University Press, London.
- ISBELL, F., CALCAGNO, V., HECTOR, A., CONNOLLY, J., HARPOLE, W. S., REICH, P. B., SCHERER-LORENZEN, M., SCHMID, B., TILMAN, D., VAN RUIJVEN, J., WEIGELT, A., WILSEY, B. J., ZAVALETA, E. S. & LOREAU, M. (2011). High plant diversity is needed to maintain ecosystem services. *Nature* 477, 199–202.
- ISBELL, F., LOSURE, D. A., YURKONIS, K. A. & WILSEY, B. J. (2008). Diversity productivity relationships in two ecologically realistic rarity-extinction scenarios. *Oikos* 117, 996–1005.
- ISBELL, F. I., POLLEY, H. W. & WILSEY, B. J. (2009). Biodiversity, productivity and the temporal stability of productivity: patterns and processes. *Ecology Letters* 12, 443–451.
- IVES, A. R. & CARDINALE, B. J. (2004). Food-web interactions govern the resistance of communities following nonrandom extinctions. *Nature* 429, 174–177.
- JONER, F., SPECHT, G., MÜLLER, S. C. & PILLAR, V. D. (2011). Functional redundancy in a clipping experiment on grassland plant communities. *Oikos* 120, 1420–1426.
- KARP, D. S., ZIV, G., ZOOK, J., EHRLICH, P. R. & DAILY, G. C. (2011). Resilience and stability in bird guilds across tropical countryside. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* **108**, 21134–21139.
- KATTGE, J., DÍAZ, S., LAVOREL, S., PRENTICE, I. C., LEADLEY, P., BÖNISCH, G., GARNIER, E., WESTOBY, M., REICH, P. B., WRIGHT, I. J., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., VIOLLE, C., HARRISON, S. P., VAN BODEGOM, P. M., REICHSTEIN, M., et al. (2011). TRY – a global database of plant traits. *Global Change Biology* 17, 2905–2935.
- KÜPPERS, M. (1989). Ecological significance of aboveground architectural patterns in woody plants: a question of cost-benefit relationships. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 5, 375–379.
- LALIBERTÉ, E. & LEGENDRE, P. (2010). A distance-based framework for measuring functional diversity from multiple traits. *Ecology* 91, 299–305.
- LALIBERTE, E., WELLS, J. A., DECLERCK, F., METCALFE, D. J., CATTERALL, C. P., QUEIROZ, C., AUBIN, I., BONSER, S. P., DING, Y., FRATERRIGO, J. M., MCNAMARA, S., MORGAN, J. W., MERLOS, D. S., VESK, P. A. & MAYFIELD, M. M. (2010). Land-use intensification reduces functional redundancy and response diversity in plant communities. *Ecology Letters* 13, 76–86.
- LAUGHLIN, D. C., JOSHI, C., VAN BODEGOM, P. M., BASTOW, Z. A., FULE, P. Z. & FUKAMI, T. (2012). A predictive model of community assembly that incorporates intraspecific trait variation. *Ecology Letters*.

- LAVOREL, S., GRIGULIS, K., LAMARQUE, P., COLACE, M.-P., GARDEN, D., GIREL, J., PELLET, G. & DOUZET, R. (2011). Using plant functional traits to understand the landscape distribution of multiple ecosystem services. *Journal of Ecology* **99**, 135–147.
- LAWLER, J. J. & OLDEN, J. D. (2011). Reframing the debate over assisted colonization. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 9, 569–574.
- LEARY, D. J. & PETCHEY, O. L. (2009). Testing a biological mechanism of the insurance hypothesis in experimental aquatic communities. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 78, 1143–1151.
- LEIBOLD, M. A., HOLVOAK, M., MOQUET, N., AMARASEKARE, P., CHASE, J. M., HOOPES, M. F., HOLT, R. D., SHURIN, J. B., LAW, R., TILMAN, D., LOREAU, M. & GONZALEZ, A. (2004). The metacommunity concept: a framework for multi-scale community ecology. *Ecology Letters* 7, 601–613.
- LOHBECK, M., POORTER, L., PAZ, H., PLA, L., VAN BREUGEL, M., MARTÍNEZ-RAMOS, M. & BONGERS, F. (2012). Functional diversity changes during tropical forest succession. *Perspectives in Plant Ecology, Evolution and Systematics* 14, 89–96.
- LOREAU, M. (2004). Does functional redundancy exist? Oikos 104, 606-611.
- LOREAU, M., NAEEM, S., INCHAUSTI, P., BENGTSSON, J., GRIME, J. P., HECTOR, A., HOOPER, D. U., HUSTON, M. A., RAFFAELLI, D., SCHMID, B., TILMAN, D. & WARDLE, D. A. (2001). Biodiversity and ecosystem functioning: current knowledge and future challenges. *Science* 294, 804–808.
- LOREAU, M., OTENG-YEBOAH, A., ARROYO, M. T. K., BABIN, D., BARBAULT, R., DONOGHUE, M., GADGIL, M., HÄUSER, C., HEIP, C., LARIGAUDERIE, A., MA, K., MACE, G., MOONEY, H. A., PERRINGS, C., RAVEN, P., et al. (2006). Diversity without representation. *Nature* 442, 245–246.
- MACARTHUR, R. H. (1955). Fluctuations of animal populations and a measure of community stability. *Ecology* 36, 533–535.
- MACE, G. M., NORRIS, K. & FITTER, A. H. (2012). Biodiversity and ecosystem services: a multilayered relationship. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 27, 19–26.
- MAESTRE, F. T., QUERO, J. L., GOTELLI, N. J., ESCUDERO, A., OCHOA, V., DELGADO-BAQUERIZO, M., GARCÍA-GÓMEZ, M., BOWKER, M. A., SOLIVERES, S., ESCOLAR, C., GARCÍA-PALACIOS, P., BERDUGO, M., VALENCIA, E., GOZALO, B., GALLARDO, A., et al. (2012). Plant species rchness and ecosystem multifunctionality in global drylands. *Science* 335, 214–218.
- MAYFIELD, M. M., BONSER, S. P., MORGAN, J. W., AUBIN, I., MCNAMARA, S. & VESK, P. A. (2010). What does species richness tell us about functional trait diversity? Predictions and evidence for responses of species and functional trait diversity to land-use change. *Global Ecology and Biogeography* **19**, 423–431.
- MCGILL, B. J., ENQUIST, B. J., WEIHER, E. & WESTOBY, M. (2006). Rebuilding community ecology from functional traits. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 21, 178–185.
- MCGRADY-STEED, J. & MORIN, P. J. (2000). Biodiversity, density compensation, and the dynamics of populations and functional groups. *Ecology* 81, 361–373.
- MCLAREN, J. R. & TURKINGTON, R. (2010). Ecosystem properties determined by plant functional group identity. *Journal of Ecology* **98**, 459–469.
- MICHELI, F. & HALPERN, B. S. (2005). Low functional redundancy in coastal marine assemblages. *Ecology Letters* 8, 391–400.
- MORI, A. S. (2011). Ecosystem management based on natural disturbances: hierarchical context and non-equilibrium paradigm. *Journal of Applied Ecology* 48, 280–292.
- MORI, A. S., MIZUMACHI, E. & SPRUGEL, D. G. (2008). Morphological acclimation to understorey environments in Abies amabilis, a shade- and snow-tolerant conifer species of the Cascade Mountains, Washington, USA. *Tree Physiology* 28, 815–824.
- MORI, A. & TAKEDA, H. (2004). Functional relationships between crown morphology and within-crown characteristics of understory saplings of three codominant conifers in a subalpine forest in central Japan. *Tree Physiology* 24, 661–670.
- NAEEM, S. (1998). Species redundancy and ecosystem reliability. *Conservation Biology* 12, 39–45.
- NAEEM, S., BUNKER, D. E., HECTOR, A., LOREAU, M. & PERRINGS, C. (2009). Biodiversity, Ecosystem-Functioning, and Human Wellbeing. Oxford University Press, New York.
- NAEEM, S., DUFFY, J. E. & ZAVALETA, E. (2012). The functions of biological diversity in an age of extinction. *Science* 336, 1401–1406.
- NAEEM, S. & WRIGHT, J. P. (2003). Disentangling biodiversity effects on ecosystem functioning: deriving solutions to a seemingly insurmountable problem. *Ecology Letters* 6, 569–579.
- VAN NES, E. H. & SCHEFFER, M. (2004). Large species shifts triggered by small forces. *American Naturalist* 164, 255–266.
- NIINEMETS, U. & LUKJANOVA, A. (2003). Total foliar area and average leaf age may be more strongly associated with branching frequency than with leaf longevity in temperate conifers. *New Phytologist* **158**, 75–89.
- PAKEMAN, R. J. (2004). Consistency of plant species and trait responses to grazing along a productivity gradient: a multisite analysis. *Journal of Ecology* 92, 893–905.
- PERRINGS, C., NAEEM, S., AHRESTANI, F. S., BUNKER, D. E., BURKILL, P., CANZIANI, G., ELMQVIST, T., FUHRMAN, J. A., JAKSIC, F. M., KAWABATA, Z. I., KINZIG, A., MACE, G. M., MOONEY, H., PRIEUR-RICHARD, A.-H., TSCHIRHART, J. & WEISSER, W. (2011). Ecosystem services, targets, and indicators for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment* 9, 512–520.
- PETCHEY, O. L., EVANS, K. L., FISHBURN, I. S. & GASTON, K. J. (2007). Low functional diversity and no redundancy in British avian assemblages. *Journal of Animal Ecology* 76, 977–985.

- PETCHEY, O. L. & GASTON, K. J. (2006). Functional diversity: back to basics and looking forward. *Ecology Letters* 9, 741–758.
- PETERSON, G., ALLEN, C. R. & HOLLING, C. S. (1998). Ecological resilience, biodiversity, and scale. *Ecosystems* 1, 6–18.
- POLASKY, S., NELSON, E., CAMM, J., CSUTI, B., FACKLER, P., LONSDORF, E., MONTGOMERY, C., WHITE, D., ARTHUR, J., GARBER-YONTS, B., HAIGHT, R., KAGAN, J., STARFIELD, A. & TOBALSKE, C. (2008). Where to put things? Spatial land management to sustain biodiversity and economic returns. *Biological Conservation* 141, 1505–1524.
- POORTER, L. & WERGER, M. J. A. (1999). Light environment, sapling architecture, and leaf display in six rain forest tree species. *American Journal of Botany* 86, 1464–1473.
- REICH, P. B., TILMAN, D., ISBELL, F., MUELLER, K., HOBBIE, S. E., FLVNN, D. F. & EISENHAUER, N. (2012). Impacts of biodiversity loss escalate through time as redundancy fades. *Science* 336, 589–592.
- REICH, P. B., UHL, C., WALTERS, M. B. & ELLSWORTH, D. S. (1991). Leaf lifespan as a determinant of leaf structure and function among 23 amazonian tree species. *Oecologia* 86, 16–24.
- REISS, J., BRIDLE, J. R., MONTOYA, J. M. & WOODWARD, G. (2009). Emerging horizons in biodiversity and ecosystem functioning research. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24, 505–514.
- SALA, O. E., CHAPIN, F. S. I., ARMESTO, J. J., BERLOW, E., BLOOMFIELD, J., DIRZO, R., HUBER-SANWALD, E., HUENNEKE, L. F., JACKSON, R. B., KINZIG, A., LEEMANS, R., LODGE, D. M., MOONEY, H. A., OESTERHELD, M., POFF, N. L., et al. (2000). Biodiversity–global biodiversity scenarios for the year 2100. Science 287, 1770–1774.
- SASAKI, T. & LAUENROTH, W. K. (2011). Dominant species, rather than diversity, regulates temporal stability of plant communities. *Occologia* **166**, 761–768.
- SASAKI, T., OHKURO, T., JAMSRAN, U. & TAKEUCHI, K. (2012). Changes in the herbage nutritive value and yield associated with threshold responses of vegetation to grazing in Mongolian rangelands. *Grass and Forage Science*, 67, 446–455.
- SASAKI, T., OKUBO, S., OKAYASU, T., JAMSRAN, U. & OHKURO, T. (2009a). Management applicability of the intermediate disturbance hypothesis across Mongolian rangeland ecosystems. *Ecological Applications* 19, 423–432.
- SASAKI, T., OKUBO, S., OKAYASU, T., JAMSRAN, U., OHKURO, T. & TAKEUCHI, K. (2009b). Two-phase functional redundancy in plant communities along a grazing gradient in Mongolian rangelands. *Ecology* **90**, 2598–2608.
- SCHEFFER, M. & CARPENTER, S. R. (2003). Catastrophic regime shifts in ecosystems: linking theory to observation. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 18, 648–656.
- SEKERCIOGLU, C. H. (2006). Increasing awareness of avian ecological function. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 21, 464–471.
- SELMANTS, P. C., ZAVALETA, E. S., PASARI, J. R. & HERNANDEZ, D. L. (2012). Realistic plant species losses reduce invasion resistance in a California serpentine grassland. *Journal of Ecology* **100**, 723–731.
- SMITH, M. N. & KNAPP, A. K. (2003). Dominant species maintain ecosystem function with non-random species loss. *Ecology Letters* 6, 509–517.
- SRIVASTAVA, D. S. & VELLEND, M. (2005). Biodiversity-ecosystem function research: is it relevant to conservation? Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics 36, 267–294.
- SUDING, K. N. & HOBBS, R. J. (2009). Threshold models in restoration and conservation: a developing framework. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 24, 271–279.
- SUDING, K. N., LAVOREL, S., CHAPIN, F. S., CORNELISSEN, J. H. C., DIAZ, S., GARNIER, E., GOLDBERG, D., HOOPER, D. U., JACKSON, S. T. & NAVAS, M.-L. (2008). Scaling environmental change through the community-level: a trait-based response-and-effect framework for plants. *Global Change Biology* 14, 1125–1140.
- THOMPSON, R. & STARZOMSKI, B. M. (2006). What does biodiversity actually do? A review for managers and policy makers. *Biodiversity and Conservation* **16**, 1359–1378.
- TILMAN, D. & LEHMAN, C. (2001). Human-caused environmental change: impacts on plant diversity and evolution. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 98, 5433–5440.
- TILMAN, D., REICH, P. B. & ISBELL, F. (2012). Biodiversity impacts ecosystem productivity as much as resources, disturbance, or herbivory. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*.
- TILMAN, D., REICH, P. B. & KNOPS, J. M. (2006). Biodiversity and ecosystem stability in a decade-long grassland experiment. *Nature* **441**, 629–632.
- TSCHARNTKE, T., KLEIN, A. M., KRUESS, A., STEFFAN-DEWENTER, I. & THIES, C. (2005). Landscape perspectives on agricultural intensification and biodiversity – ecosystem service management. *Ecology Letters* 8, 857–874.
- TSCHARNTKE, T., SEKERCIOGLU, C. H., DIETSCH, T. V., SODHI, N. S., HOEHN, P. & TYLIANAKIS, J. M. (2008). Landscape constraints on functional diversity of birds and insects in tropical agroecosystems. *Ecology* 89, 944–951.

- TSCHARNTKE, T., TYLIANAKIS, J. M., RAND, T. A., DIDHAM, R. K., FAHRIG, L., BATARY, P., BENGTSSON, J., CLOUGH, Y., CRIST, T. O., DORMANN, C. F., EWERS, R. M., FRUND, J., HOLT, R. D., HOLZSCHUH, A., KLEIN, A. M., et al. (2012). Landscape moderation of biodiversity patterns and processes – eight hypotheses. *Biological Reviews* 87, 661–685.
- UNEP (2009). Ecosystem Management Programme: A New Approach to Sustainability. Division of Environmental Policy Implementation. United Nations Environment Programme, Nairobi.
- VIOLLE, C., ENQUIST, B. J., MCGILL, B. J., JIANG, L., ALBERT, C. H., HULSHOF, C., JUNG, V. & MESSIER, J. (2012). The return of the variance: intraspecific variability in community ecology. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution* 27, 244–252.
- WALKER, B. (1992). Biodiversity and ecological redundancy. Conservation Biology 6, 18–23.
- WALKER, B. (1995). Conserving biological diversity through ecosystem resilience. Conservation Biology 9, 747–752.
- WALKER, B., CARPENTER, S., ANDERIES, J., ABEL, N., CUMMING, G., JANSSEN, M., LEBEL, L., NORBERG, J., PETERSON, G. D. P. & RITCHARD, R. (2002). Resilience management in social-ecological systems: a working hypothesis for a participatory approach. *Conservation Ecology* 6, Article no.14. http://www.ecologyandsociety.org/vol6/iss1/art14
- WALKER, B., KINZIG, A. & LANGRIDGE, J. (1999). Plant attribute diversity, resilience, and ecosystem function: the nature and significance of dominant and minor species. *Ecosystems* 2, 95–113.
- WILSON, D. S. (1992). Complex interactions in metacommunities, with implications for biodiversity and higher levels of selection. *Ecology* 73, 1984–2000.
- WINFREE, R. & KREMEN, C. (2009). Are ecosystem services stabilized by differences among species? A test using crop pollination. *Proceedings of the Royal Society of London*, *Series B: Biological Sciences* 276, 229–237.
- WOHL, D. L., ARORA, S. & GLADSTONE, J. R. (2004). Functional redundancy supports biodiversity and ecosystem function in a closed and constant environment. *Ecology* 85, 1534–1540.
- YACHI, S. & LOREAU, M. (1999). Biodiversity and ecosystem productivity in a fluctuating environment: the insurance hypothesis. *Proceedings of the National Academy* of Sciences of the United States of America **96**, 1463–1468.
- ZAVALETA, E. S. & HULBEY, K. B. (2004). Realistic species losses disproportionately reduce grassland resistance to biological invaders. *Science* **306**, 1175–1177.
- ZAVALETA, E. S., PASARI, J. R., HULVEY, K. B. & TILMAN, G. D. (2010). Sustaining multiple ecosystem functions in grassland communities requires higher biodiversity. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America* 107, 1443–1446.
- ZHANG, Y., CHEN, H. Y. H. & REICH, P. B. (2012). Forest productivity increases with evenness, species richness and trait variation: a global meta-analysis. *Journal of Ecology* **100**, 742–749.

VII. SUPPORTING INFORMATION

Additional supporting information may be found in the online version of this article.

Figure S1. Temporal publication trends in three related research fields, based on papers in the ISI *Web of Science* database. BEF, biodiversity-ecosystem functioning studies, located using the key words 'biodiversity', and 'ecosystem functions' or 'ecosystem functionality' or 'ecosystem functions' or 'ecosystem processes' or 'ecosystem properties'. FD, studies of functional diversity, located using the key words 'functional diversity' and 'biodiversity'. RD: studies of response diversity, located using the key words 'response diversity'. Despite the drastic increase in BEF studies since 1991, the rise of FD studies has been relatively slow, and very few RD studies have been published to date.

(Received 6 July 2012; revised 5 November 2012; accepted 6 November 2012; published online 6 December 2012)